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O UNITED STATESDISTRICTCOQURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

——— [y ——— . _— -—X
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 5109 Cr. 1058 (VM)
. o L _ _ s
Violations:
RUBIN/CHAMBERS, DUNHILL INSURANCE 15U0S.C.§1
SERVICES, INC. dba CHAMBERS, DUNHILL, : 18 U.S.C. § 371
RUBIN & CO. and CDR FINANCIAL 18 US.C. §§ 1343, 1346
PRODUCTS, INC.; : 18 U.S.C. § 1001
DAVID RUBIN,; 18 U.S.C. § 1005. .
ZEVI WOLMARK, aka STEWART WOLMARK; : 26 US.C. § 7212
and EVAN ANDREW ZAREFSKY,
Defendants.
- R e L . o e e e B P Y Y s A 3 X
INDICTMENT

The Grand Jury charges:

~ COUNT ONE — CONSPIRACY TO RESTRAIN TRAD
| (15U.8.C.§8 1) .

1. RUBIN/CHAMBERS, DUNHILL INSURANCE SERVICES, INC,,
DAVID RUBIN, ZEVI WOLMARK, aka STEWART WOLMARK, and EVAN
ANDREW ZAREFSKY are hereby indicted and made defendants on the charge stated

below.




Case 1:09-cr-01058-VM Document 67 Filed 12/07/10 Page 2 of 39

' 1. THE RELEVANT PARTIES AND ENTITIES

During the period covered by this Count:

2. | RUBIN/CHAMBERS, DUNHILL INSURANCE SERVICES, INC.
(“CDR™) was a corporation existing under the laws of the State of California with its
principal place of businesé iﬁ Bé\}e.rlly.Hill.s, CA CDR ‘%fas .%.1. who.l.ly-.owned.subsid.iary of ”
CDR Holdings, Inc. CDR did business as Chambers, Dunhill, & Rubin Co. and as CDR
Financial Products, Inc. CDR marketed financial products and services, including
services as a broker or advisor to various municipalities throughout the United States.

3. DAVID RUBIN, a resident of Los Angeles, CA, was the founder, president
and chief executive officer of CDR and the sole owner of CDR Holdings, Inc.

4. ZEVI WOLMARK, aka STEWART WOLMARK, a resident of Los
Angeles, CA, was the chief financial officer and a managing director of CDR.

5. EVAN ANDREW ZAREFSKY, a resident of Redondo Beach, CA, was a
vice president of CDR.

6. Whenever in this Count reference is made to any act, deed, or transaction of
any corporation, such allegation shall be deemed to mean that the corporation engaged in
such act, deed, or transaction by or through its officers, directors, agents, employees, or
other representatives while they were actively engaged in the management, direction,

controt, or transaction of its business affairs.
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~ ag co-conspirators in the offense charged herein and performed acts and made statements

in furtherance thereof.

II. BACKGROUND

8. Municipal bonds are issued by government entities, such as states, counties,
and cities, or quasi—goverxnne;n;cal e.ntities,. éucfl as. publié éuthéritiés aﬁd school, ut111ty or |
water districts, to raise money for operating funds or for specific projects, such as the
construction of public facilities, and to refinance outstanding municipal debt. In some
instances, the entity issuing the bond turns the money over to a not-for-profit entity, such
as a school or hospital, or an entity that will spend the nioney for a specific public
purpose, such as the construction-of low-cost housing or waste treatment facilities: Both
the entities that issue municipal bohds and the entities that receive and spend the money

3% 46

are, unless otherwise stated, collectively referred to herein as “issuers,” “municipal
issuers,” or “municipalities.” In 2007 and 2008, combined, approximately $800 billion in
municipal bonds were issued in the United States.

9. The money an issuer raises from a municipal bond offering (“bond
proceeds’) 18 typicaﬂy spent over a period of time rather than immediately, in one fump
sum. The issuer frequently invests some or all of the bond proceeds in an investment
product (sometimes referred to as an “investment agreement”) that is designed for its
specific needs. Investment agreements vary in size from a few hundred thousand dollars

~veral hundred million deollars and in duration from ag short as one month to as long

+ .
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10.  Major financial institutions, including banks, investment banks, insurance

| cofnpaﬁieé, and ﬁnaﬁcial sérvices companies (collectively “providers”) sell .invc.st.ment
agreements through their employées or agents (“marketers”).

11.  Issuers usually select providers of investment agreements through bona fide
competitive bidding procedures that are designed to comply with federal tax laws and
United States Department of the Treasury regulations relating to the tax-exempt status of
municipal bonds. Compliance with these regulations is monitored by the Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS™), which is entitled to receive a portion of the earnings from a
municipality’s investment agreement under certain circumstances. Among other things, -
each provider submitting a bid typically certifies that specific Treasury regulations have

“been followed, including that the provider did not consult with any other potential
provider about its bid and that all providers had an equal opportunity to bid, commonly
referred to as the no “last looks” provision.

12.  Issuers often hire third parties (“brokers”) to act as their agents in
conducting a bona fide competitive bidding process and complying with the relevant
Treasury regulations, CDR was such a broker. Brokers owe a fiduciary duty to issuers
that hire them and are required to act for the benefit of the issuer when conducting the
competitive bidding process. The broker’s fee for éonductiﬁg a bona fide competitive

s AA ey s o tn T ey H 1 : ' i "
bidding process is generally paid by the winning provider, which takes into account the
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*s fee when calculating its bid and discloses that fee to the issuer.

13.  Brokers offer a variety of services, including offering suggestions about the
availability and suitability of inve.stment products, drafting bid specifications, and
identifying the most competitive, qualified providers to be solicited as bidders. In some
cases, the broker decides which providers will be solicited to bid without consulting with
the issuer or any of the other professional representatives advising the issuer.

14.  Brokers are usually responsible for distributing the bid packages
A(speciﬁcations and bid forms) to providers selected to receive them, usually via e-mail,
keeping in touch with the potential bidders to answer questions about the bid
specifications; conducting the bidding process, which typically involves receiving the

- providers’ bids by telephone at a time identified in the bid specifications, followed by a . .: .
- confirming copy of the bid via facsimile. After reviewing the bids to ensure conformity = ;
with the specifications, brokers then inform the issuer of the outcome of the bid, including
the identity of the winning, qualified bidder and, if appropriate, any conditions that deviate
from the specifications. Brokers are often required by the issuer to provide written
certiﬁcation that the bidding procedures complied with the relevant Treasury regulations.

15.  Depending on the structure of the bid, providers may be asked to quote only
the interest rate to be paid on funds on deposit for the duration of the agreement or they

may be asked to submit a bid in the form of a dollar amount or date (sometimes referred to

g e e 71 e Lo
Cinilhiy, pIo viders are
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reement is awarded to the
_ﬁrovider quoting the highest rate.

16. Many brokéré fhat conduct bona fide competitive bidding for investment
agreements subject to the Treasury regulations are also hired by municipalities and other
quasi-governmental entities to conduct bona fide competitive b1dd1ng in éoﬁﬁecﬁoﬁ w1th
the award of other contracts involving public funds, even though those contracts are not
subject to the Treasury regulations related to competitive bidding. These contracts
(collectively, “other municipal finance contracts”) include, but are not limited to,
investment agreements for taxable municipal bonds; investment agreements for funds
borrowed by entities in which the federal government or any municipal entity is a
participant; and derivative contracts, which are contracts between a municipal issuer and a
financial institutién that are designed to manage or transfer some or all of the mterest rate
risk associated with a municipal bond issue: Other municipal contracts do not include

underwriting contracts. CDR acted as a broker in the award of other municipal finance

contracts.

III. DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFENSE

17.  From at least as early as 1998 until at least November 2006, the exact dates
being unknown to the Grand Jury, defendants CDR, RUBIN, WOLMARK and

ZAREFSKY (collectively, the “CDR defendants™) and co-conspirators engaged in a

trade and commerce in
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violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act (15 U.S.C. §1).
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18, The aforesaid combination and conspiracy consisted of an agreement,

understanding, and concert of action among the CDR defendants and co-conspirators, the

substantial terms of which were to allocate and rig bids for investment agreements or other

municipal finance contracts.
IV. THE MANNER AND MEANS BY WHICH THE
CONSPIRACY WAS CARRIED OQUT

19.  For the purpose of forming and effectuating the aforesaid combination and
conspiracy, the CDR defendants and co-conspirators did those things which they combined
and conspired to do, including, among other things:

(@) designating in advance of the submission of bids to CDR which
provider among the co-conspirator providers would be the winning bidder for certain
investment agreéments or: othel; munf;:ipal ﬁnance :co;lfrécts; )

(b) discﬁssing and égreeing on the prices or ﬁrice levels co-conspirator
providers would bid for certain iﬁvestment agreements or other municipal. finance
contracts;

(¢)  submitting or causing to be submitted to CDR intentionally losing
bids foy ccrfgin .investment agreements or other municipal finance contracts with the
understanding that ¢o-conspirator providers submitting the intentionally losing bids would
be allocatedrother investment agreements or other municipal finance contracts. The
intentionally losing bids made it appear both to the municipalities that had hired CDR as

their broker and, where appropriate, to the IRS that the CDR defendants had solicited

7
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in fact, they had not;

(d) falsely certifying and forwarding false certifications that the bidding

with the relevant Treasury regulations or was otherwise competitive;

(¢)  agreeing to pay and paying CDR kickbacks in the form of fees that
were inflated, relative to the services performed, or unearned. These payments were in
exchange for the CDR defendants’ assistance in controlling the bidding process and for
ensuring that cerfain co-conspirator providers won the bids they were allocated. Unlike
the fees CDR waé patrdasa broker for conducting the bidding process, these fees were not
disclosed to the.ﬁiunicipélifisels that had hired CDR or to the IRS; and

® © paying ;Iiuhicipalifies or causing municipalities to be paid artificiaﬂsz
determined or supﬁfessed yields for the duration of certain investment agreements or other
municipal finance contracts, thereby increasing the profitability of those agreements or
contracts for the winning co-conspirator provider for their duration.

20. | For example, on numerous occasions, a co-conspirator provider
recommended to a municipality that it hire CDR as broker, typically where the provider was
the senior underwriter on an upcoming bond issue. In exchange, the CDR defendants
attempted to ensure and did ensure that the same provider won ofie or 1ore of the

investment agreements associated with that same bond issue by recommending terms for

roviders that would and did compete for those agreements and contracts, when,
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the investment agreement(s) that favored that provider, selecting other providers to bid that

would and did submit intentionally losing bids, and, after receiving information from the
intehdé& Winhiﬁg p%0§ider reg'arding the pﬁce or price levels it intended to bid, telling the
other nrowders what prices or price levels to bid. As a result, the intended winning
provider increased its proﬁts from the 1.r1.v.e”st.n.1@nt ag.r.e.e.n‘.lent(s) by ﬁaymg interest to the |
municipality for the duration of the investment agreement(s) at a rate that was artificially

low.

V. INTERSTATE TRADE AND COMMERCE

21.  From at least as early as 1998 until at least November 2006, pursuant to the
investment agreements and other municipal finance contracts that are the subject of this
C(.ndn.lt, the CDR defendants and co-conspirators caused substantial amounts of moﬁey to be -
transferred between co-conspirator providers and municipal issﬁers and other govémment
or quasi-governmental entities throughout the United States.

22 The activities of the CDR defendants and co-conspirators with respect to the

aforementioned investment agreements and other municipal finance contracts were within
the flow of, and substantially affected, interstate trade and commerce.

VI, JURISDICTION AND VENUE

23.  The aforesaid combination and conspiracy was formed and carried out, in

part, within the Southern District of New York within the five years preceding the filing of

elasa T .
this Indictment.
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A

COUNT TWO — CONSPIRACY
S(I8US.C.§371)

VII. THE RELEVANT PARTIES AND ENTITIES

The Grand Jury further charges:

24. RUBIN/CHAMBERS, DUNHILL INSURANCE SERVICES, INC., DAVID
RUBIN, ZEVI WOLMARK, aka STEWART WOLMARK, and EVAN ANDREW
ZAREFSKY are hereby indicted and made defendants on the charge stated below.

25.  Paragraphs 2 through 6 and 8 through 16 of Count One of this Indictment are
repeated, reaileged, and incorporated in Count Two as if fully set forth in this Count.

26. Provider A was a group of related financial services companies located in
Manhattan and owned or controlled by a company headquartérfed in Manhattan, and
Marketer A, was. a representative of Provider A. .

27 Financial Institution A was a financial institution that was a branch or agency
of a foreign bank, within the meaning of Title18, United States Code, Section 20.

28.  Financial Institution B was a financial institution that was a branch or agency
of a foreign bank, w_ithin the meaning of Title 18, United States Code, Section 20.

VIII, DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFENSE

29.  Various other persons and entitics, not made defendants herein, participated

as co-conspirators in the offense charged herein and performed acts in furtherance thereof,
They included Provider A,

10

| OF TITLE 15, UNITED STATES CODE, SECTION 1
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30.  From at least as early as August 2001 until at lecast November 2006, the exact

dates beiﬁg unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Southern District of New York and
éiseﬁzhere, defendants CDR, RUBIN, WOLMARK and ZAREFSKY (collectively, the
“CDR defendants”) and co-conspirators unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly did combine,
c.(;;l.s.pi”r.e:., c.:(.).r.lf.'e(.i.f.:re.lt.e., .E.ll.ld égfés to.g.eth.e.r and w1th eacﬁ.bt."he“r tlo. (.:o.r.n.r.hif”offe'ns.eé ﬁgaiﬁst
the United States, to wit, to violate Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 1346 and
1005, and to defraud the United States and an agency thereof, to wit, the Internal Revenue
Service (“IRS”) of the United States Department of the Treasury, all in violation of Title
18, United States Code, Section 371.

31. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy that defendants CDR, RUBIN,
WOLMARK, and'ZAR.EFSK_;f and co—conépifators, havihg devised and intending to
devise a scheme and arfiﬁce to defraud municipalities and to obtain money and property
from municipalities by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and
promises, namely, a scheme to deceive municipal issuers by manipulating the bidding
process for multiple investment agreements and other municipal contracts to favor Provider
A, and further to deprive municipal issuers of the intangibie right {o the honest and faithful
services of the CDR defendants and co-conspirators at CDR through kickbacks and the
concealment of material information, unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly, for the purpose
of executing such scheme and artifice, and attempting to do so, would and did transmit and

cause to be transmitted by means of wire, radio or television communication in interstate or

11
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| __ff).;e_i.gg commerce any wntlngs, .smigr.1§,_s.ignals, pictures or sounds, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346. -

| 32. It was further a part and an object of the conspiracy that defendants CDR,
RUBIN, WOLMARK and ZAREFSKY and co-conspirators would and did defraud the
) Umted Stﬁteé and the IRS by ir.npec.li.n.g,. i.rr.l.pairing., obst.r.uéti.n.g, éhd.deféétiﬁg.ﬂle lawful
government functions of the IRS in the ascertainment, computation, assessment, and
collection of revenue due and owing from municipal issuers and in exercising its
responsibilities to monitor compliance with Treasury regulations related to tax-exempt
municipal bonds, in viclation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

33. It was further a part and an object of the conspiracy that defendants CDR,

- RUBIN, WOLMARK;-and'ZAREFSKY and co-conspirators, with intent to defraud the
Unitéd S'tat.es or any égency therebf, to wit, the United States Department of the Treasury.
and the IRS, pursuant to the scheme-identified in this Count, participated, shared in and
received (directly and indirectly) money, profit, property, and benefits, to wit, one or more
kickbacks identified in this Count, through transactions, commissions, contracts and any
other acts of a financial institution, to wit, Financial Institution A and B, in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Section 1005.

IX. THE MANNER AND MEANS BY WHICH THE
CONSPIRACY WAS CARRIED OUT

The manner and means by which the conspiracy was sought to be accomplished

included, among others, the following:

12
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34, The CDR defendants and co-conspirators engaged in an ongoing scheme to
defraud municipalities and the IRIS by causing municipal issuers to enter into investment
agféeméﬁts aﬁd other municipél ﬁﬁance contracts with Provider A at artificially determined
or suppressed price levels through the control and manipulation of the bidding for those
agreements and .c.ontracts.. In exchange, éertaiﬁ of thé CDR &éfendénfs aské(niht.ha.t Provider
A pay kickbacks to CDR. Provider A agreed and arranged to pay kickbacks to CDR in the
following manner: the kickbacks were disguised as fees (“hedge fees™) that purported to
compensate CDR for acting as a broker in arranging financial transactions known as swaps
between Provider A and either Financial Institution A or B, but those fees were, in fact,
unearned or inflated. The rates of Provider A’s swaps with Financial Institutions A and B
were. a’djustéd to include the hedge fees Provider A wanted to pay CDR, and Financial.
Institutions A'émd B then paid the hedge fees to CDR. Neither CDR nor Provider A
disclosed to issuers that Provider A had agreed to pay CDR hedge fees in connection with.
the award and execution of investment agreements or other municipal finance contracts. In
some cases, these kickbacks reduced the amount of money the municipalities received and
continue to receive pursuant to investment agreements or other municipal finance contracts
awarded to Provider A.

35 The CDR defendants attempted to increase the number and profitability of
investinent agreements and other municipal finance contracts awarded to Provider A by

roviders were solicited for hids and securing the agreement of

13
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other providers to submit intentionally losing bids, where possible, and by arranging for
Mérke.t.er .A {6 submit Provider A’s bid last. ‘Before Marketer A actually decided whatpnce
'tzo Bid, thé.:CDR defendants and couconspirafors at CDR received and reviewed bids from
other préviders and gave Marketer A information about the prices, price levels or conditions
of those bids, including, on occasion, the specific amounts other providers had bid.
Marketer A then used that information to determine Provider A’s bid. On some occasions,
the CDR defendants told Marketer A that he could lower Provider A’s bid and still win the
contracts and, further, suggested the exact amount by or to which the bid could be reduced.
Marketer A followed these suggestions. As a result of information the CDR defendants
save Marketer A about bids from other providers, Provider A was awarded and has
performed and is scheduled to continue to perform investment agreements and other
municipal finance contracts at artificially determined levels that deprived and will continue
to deprive municipalities of money.

36.  From time to time, certain of the CDR defendants asked Marketer A to submit
intentionally losing bids for investment agreements or other municipal finance contracts, in
order to create the appearance that Provider A was competing for agreements or contracts
when, in fact, it was not.

37. The CDR defendants falsely certified or caused to be certified that the bidding
process was bona fide and complied with relevant Treasury regulations or was otherwise

competitive and received and forwarded bids and certifications from Marketer A or Provider

14
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~Aand _chgl_j_qgfggqs_p_igat_o?_prqyjd@rs cpntaining corresponding false representations.

38. By secretly controlling and manipulating the bidding for investrﬁeﬁt -
agféémeﬁfs and other municipal finance contracts, the CDR defendants caused
municipalities not to file required reports or to file inaccurate reports with the IRS, and to
fali toglvethe .I.RS of .thé."lll.‘ea.sur}.' .1.1.1.01;1“ey t6 Which it. ﬁas entltled This conduct
jeopardized the tax-exempt status of the underlying bonds.

X. OVERT ACTS

39 In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the iliegal objects thereof, the
CDR defendants and co-conspirators committed the following overt acts, among others, in
the Southern District of N‘ew York and elsewhere:

" (a)" © On numerous‘occasions, at or about the time the bid specifications
stated that bids were due, the CDR defendants .participated in interstate telephone calls
between California and New York, New York during which they gave Marketer A
information about the prices, price levels, or conditions of bids from other providers and
Marketer A then used that information to determine Provider A’s bid.

(b)  On numerous occasions, at or about the time the bid specifications
stated that bids were due, the CDR defendants participated in interstate telephone calls
between California and New York, New York during which they asked Marketer A to
submit intentionally losing bids for investment agreements and other municipal finance

contracts and nrovided him with pricing information to assist him in doing so.

15
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()  Onnumerous occasions, prior to taking bids for certain investment

agreements or other municipal finance contracts, certain of the CDR defendants participated

in'intersiat.é telephone calis between California and New York, New York with Marketer A
and other co-conspirators during which they made or sought to make arrangements for CDR
to recéi.v.e kiékbﬁci-:é m the form of .pu.rporte.d hédgé fees .that. wcr.'.e. ﬁof .discl.o.séd.to.the
municipality. On at least ten occasions between approximately November 2001 and August
2005, CDR received kickbacks ranging in size from $4,500 to $475,000.

(d)  On numerous occasions, the CDR defendants falsely certified or caused
to be certified that the bidding process complied with relevant Treasury regulations, or was
otherwise competitive, and forwarded bids and certifications from Marketer A or Provider A
and other co-conspirator providers containing corresponding false representations.

(e)- © On numerous occasions, Provider A paid via wire transfer and is -
scheduled to continue to pay municipalities interest on money it received pursuant to
investment agreements or other municipal finance contracts whose rates were artificially

determined or suppressed.

()  With respect to the award and performance of three investment
agreements for a state water development authority, the CDR defendants and co-
conspirators committed the following overt acts, among others:

{1} on or about October 23, 2003, during an interstate telephone

conversation hetween California and New York, New York about 90 minutes before the

16
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bids were due, defendant WOLMARK spoke to Marketer A about the arrangements for

Provider A to pay CDR kickbacks in the form of hedge fees and to enter into one or more
swaps with either Fiﬁahciél Instit&tion A of B relating to the investment agféemerits for the
state authority.

(i) on or about October 23, 2003, during an interstate telephone
conversation between California and New York, New York about 30 minutes after the bids
were due, defendant ZAREFSKY gave Marketer A information about the bid prices
submitted by other providers and suggested that Marketer A change the prices he was
otherwise prepared to submit, including lowering the interest rate on one of the agreements
to a specific number. Marketer A agreed to and did submit prices at the amounts or levels

-suggested by ZAREFSKY. -

{(iii)  on or about October 23, 2003, after'Provider A had been
awarded the state authority’s three investment agreements, Marketer A made arrangements
to pay CDR a kickback in the form of a hedge fee in connection with a swap between
Provider A and Financial Institution B relating to one of the investment agreements with the

state authority.

(iv)  on or about October 27, 2003, CDR sent an invoice to Financial
Institution B for a $4,500 hedge fee in connection with the swap between Financial
Institution B and Provider A relating to one of the investment agreements with the state

anthority.

17
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| (V) ~on orabout _Qct_ober 31, 2003, CDR executed a broker’s
certificate that, among other things, falsely stated: “All bidders had an equal opportunity to
'bi.d. No “last Ioék’ by any b.idder was permitted.”
(vi)  on or about October 31, 2003, Provider A entered into three
1nvestment agféeﬁeﬁfé v.\r.it.l.lu;thé..sté‘t.emaﬁthc.)rity,..tw.o. at.fh.é. .r;dt.es“ .d.et.enﬁi.r.l.éd fhroﬁgh the.
bidding conducted by CDR and the other adjusted to account for a change in the

specifications.

(vii) on or about November 3, 2003, CDR received via wire transfer a
kickback relating to one of the investment agreements with the state authority in the form of
a $4,500 hedge fee from Financial Institution B in connection with the swap between
‘Provider A and Financial Institution B.‘

(viii) on or about November 10, 2003, CDR sent an invoice to -
Financial Institation B for a second $4,500 hedge fee in connection with the swap between
Financial Institution B and Provider A relating to one of the investment agreements with the

state authority.

(ix) beginning approximately in late November 2003 and continuing
until January 3, 2005, Provider A made monthly interest payments on one of the state

authority’s funds at a rate that was artificially suppressed.

(x)  onorabout August 12, 2005, CDR received via wire transfer a

kickback relating to one of the investment agreements with the state authority in the form of

18
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-2 $4,500 hedge fee in cqn_ngcf;ior_; With t_h_e swap between Provider A and Financial
Institution B.
()  With respect to the award and performance of an investment agreement
with a municipal port facility, the CDR defendants and co-conspirators committed the
| foliowihg overt acts, among others:

(i)  on or about September 26, 2002, during an interstate telephone
conversation between California and New York, New Yo_rk about an hour before the bids
were due, defendant WOLMARK spoke to Marketer A about the arrangements for Provider
A to pay CDR kickbacks in the form of hedge fees and to enter into one or more swaps with
Financial Institution A.

(ii)  on or about September 26, 2002, during an interstate telephone
conversation between California-and New York, New York at about the time that bids were -
due, defendant WOLMARK gave Marketer-A information about the bids submitted by three
providers and they agreed on the rate Provider A would bid and the amount of the kickback

CDR would receive in the form of a hedge fee.

(iii)  on or about September 26, 2002, after Provider A had been
awarded the municipal port facility’s investment agreement, Marketer A made arrangements
té pay CDR a kickback in the form of a hedge fee in ccnnectioﬁ with a swap between
Provider A and Financial Institution A relating to that agreement.

(iv}  on or about September 30, 2002, CDR received via wire transfer

19
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~ akickback n the form of a §25,000 hedge fee in connection with the swep between
Provider A and Financial Institution A relating to the investment agreement with the
ﬁlunicipal port faci}itj

(v)  on or about October 15, 2002, CDR executed a broker’s
certiﬁcate that, among other things, falsely stated: “All providers wére afforded an equal
opportunity to bid (e.g., no provider was given a ‘last look’).”

(vi) on or about October 15, 2002, Provider A entered into an
investment agreement with the municipal port facility at the rate determined through the

bidding conducted by CDR.

(vii) beginning approximately in May 2003, Provider A made semi-
annual interest payments to the municipal port facility at a rate that was artificially

determined, which payments continued until at least October 2006.

IN VIOLATION OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE, SECTION 371

20



Case 1:09-cr-010568-VM Document 67 Filed 12/07/10 Page 21 of 39

COUNT THREE — CONSPIRACY
(18 US.C. §371)

XI. THE RELEVANT PARTIES AND ENTITIES

The Grand Jury further charges:

40, RUBIN/CHAMBERS, DUNHILL INSURANCE SERVI
RUBIN, ZEVI WOLMARK, aka STEWART WOLMARK, and EVAN ANDREW
ZAREFSKY are hereby indicted and made defendants on the charge stated below,

4]1.  Paragraphs 2 through 6 and 8 through 16 of Count One of this Indictment are
repeated, realleged, and incorporated in Count Three as if fully set forth in this Count.

42.  Provider B was a group of separate financial services entities that were .
controlled by or were part of a company headquartered in Connecticut. Marketers B-1 and
B-2 were répres;:ntativés of Prévider B from 1999 ﬁﬁti] 200i and from 2000 ﬁntil at. least
2006, réspectivéiy. Bo£h marketers worked at Provider B’s offices in Manhattan.

43 Various other persons and entities, not made defendants herein, particip;ated as
co-conspirators in the offense charged herein and performed acts in furtherance thereof.

They included Provider B and Marketers B-1 and B-2.

XII. DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFENSE

44.  From at least as early as August 1999 until at least November 2006, the exact
dates being unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Southern District of New York and
elsewhere, defendants CDR, RUBIN, WOLMARK and ZAREFSKY {collectively, the

“CDR defendants™) and co-conspirators unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly did combine,
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conspire, confederate, and agree together and with each other to commit offenses against the
United States, to wit, to violate Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346, and to
defraud the United States and an agéncy thereof, to wit, the Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS”) of the United States Department of the Treasury, all in violation of Title 18, United
States Code, Section 371.

45. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy that defendants CDR, RUBIN,
WOLMARK, and ZAREFSKY and co-conspirators, having devised and intending to devise
a scheme and artifice to defraud municipalities and to obtain money and property from
municipalities by rﬁeans of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises,
‘namely, a scheme to deceive municipal issuers by manipulating the bidding process for
multiple investﬁlent agreémeﬂts and other rnunic-ipal: contracts to favor Provider B, and
further to deprive municipal issuers of the intang.ib-le right to the honest and faithful services
of the CDR dcfénd.ants and co-conspirators at CDR through kickbacks and the concealment
of material information, unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly, for the purpose of executing
such scheme and artifice, and attempting to do so, would and did transmit and cause to be
transmitted by means of wire, radio or television communicaiion in inierstate or foreign
commerce any writings, signs, signals, pictures or sounds, in violation of Title 18, United

States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346,
46. It was further a part and object of the conspiracy that defendants CDR,

RUBIN, WOLMARK and ZAREFSKY and co-conspirators would and did defraud the
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___United States and the IRS by impeding, impairing, obstructing, and defeating the lawful

government functions of the IRS in the ascertainment, computation, assessment, and
collection of revenue due and owing from municipal issuers and in exercising its
responsibilities to monitor compliance with Treasury regulations related to tax-exempt
municipal bonds, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

XIII. THE MANNER AND MEANS BY WHICH THE
CONSPIRACY WAS CARRIED OUT

The manner and means by which the conspiracy was sought to be accomplished
included, among others, the following:

47.  The CDR defendants and co-conspirators engaged in an ongoing scheme to
defraud municipalities and the IRS by causing municipal issuers to enier into investment .
agreements. and otﬁer municipal finance contracts witﬁ Provider B at artificially determine.d ‘
or suppressed price lévels ﬁl;'ough the control and maﬁipulation of the bidding for those
agreements and contracts. |

48.  The CDR defendants attempted to increase the number and profitability of
investment agreements and other municipal finance contracts awarded to Provider B by
arranging for Marketer B-1 or B-2 to submit Provider B’s bids last. Before Marketer B-1 or
B-2 actually decided what prices to bid, the CDR defendants received and reviewed bids
from other providers and gave Marketer B-1 or B-2 information about the prices, price
levels or conditions of those bids, including, on occasion, the specific amounts other

providers had bid. Marketer B-1 or B-2 then used that information to determine Provider
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B’sbids. On _SDI_T_IG__O_C(?&'Sl_'OHS, the CDR defendants__tq@ M.ar.kgt.er B-1 or B-2 that he could
lower Provider B’s bid and still win the contract and, further, suggested the specific amount
by or to which the bid could be reduced. Marketers B-1 and B-2 followed these suggestions.
As a result of information the CDR defendants gave Marketers B-1 and B-2 about bids from
other providers, Provider B was awarded and has performed and is scheduled to-continue to
perform investment agreements and other municipal finance contracts at artificially
determined levels that deprived and will continue to deprive municipalities of money.

49.  In exchange for controlling and manipulating the bidding for investment
agreements and other municipal finance contracts in order to increase the number and
profitability of the agreements al_nd contracts Provider B won, certain of the CDR detendants
asked Mﬁrketer B-1 of‘B—Z to submit intentionally losing bids for investment agreements or
‘other muﬁicipai ﬁnanc“e contrécts,'rin order to create the appearance that Provider B was: ..
competing for agreements or contracts when, in fact, it was not,

50. The CDR defendants falsely certified or caused to be certified that the bidding
process complied with relevant Treasury regulations, or was otherwise competitive, and
forwarded bids and certifications from Marketer B-1 or B-2 or Provider B and other co-
conspirator providers containing corresponding false representations.

5. By secretly manipulating and controlling the bidding for investment
agreements and other municipal finance contracts, the CDR defendants caused

municipalities not to file reguired reports with the IRS or to file inaccurate reporis with the
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IRS, and to f.a.i.l to give the IRS or the Treasury money to which it was entitled. This
conduct jedpardized the tax-exempt statns of the underiying bonds

52.  Inexchange for controlling and manipulating the bidding for investment
agreements and other municipal finance contracts in order to increase the number and
proﬁfability of the agreements and contracts Provider B won, certain of the CDR defendants
also requested that Provider B pay kickbacks, and Provider B did in fact pay kickbacks, to
CDR. The kickbacks were to be disguised as fees {“hedge fees”) that purported to
compensate CDR for acting as a broker in arranging financial transactions known as swaps
between Provider B and other financial institutions, but those fees were in fact unearned or

inflated.

XIV. OVERT ACTS

53.  In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the
CDR defendants and co-conspirators committed the following overt acts, among others, in
the Southern District of New York and elsewhere:

(a)  On numerous occasions, at or about the time the bid specifications
stated that bids were due, the CDR defendants participated in interstate telephone calis
between California and New York, New York during which they gave Marketer B-1 or B-2
mformation about the prices, price levels, or conditions of hids from other providers and
Marketer B-1 or B-2 used that information to determine Provider B’s bids.

{b)  Onnumerous occasions, at or about the time the bid specificaiions stated
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 that bids were due, the CDR defendants participated in interstate telephone calls or othor wire
.trans.m.issioﬁs between California and New York, New York during which they asked
Marketér B-1 or B-2 to submit intentionally losing bids for investment agreemenis and other
municipal finance contracts and provided them with pricing information to assist them in
doing so.

(¢)  Onnumerous occasions, prior to taking bids for certain investment
agreements or other municipal finance contracts, certain of the CDR defendants participated
in interstate telephone calls between California and New York, New York with Marketer B-1
or B-2 during which they made or sought to make arrangements for CDR to receive
kickbacks in the form of purported hedge fees that were not disclosed to the municipality.

(d)  Onnumerous occasions, the CDR defendants falsely certified or caused
to be certified that the bidding process complied with relevant Treasury regulations, or was
otherwise competitive, and forwarded bids and certifications from Marketer B-1 or B-2 or
Provider B containing corresponding false representations.

()  On numerous occasions, Provider B paid via wire transfer and is
scheduled to continue to pay municipalitics interest on money it received pursuant to
investment agreements or other municipal finance contracts whose rates were artificially

determined or suppressed.
(f)  With respect to the award and performance of an investment agreement

for a state honsing agency, certain of the CDR defendants and co-conspirators committed the
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following overt acts, among ofhers:

() on or about May 19, 2004, during an interstate telephone call
between California and New York, New York, defendant RUBIN suggested to Marketer B-2
that he lower the rate he said he was preparing to quote because the issuer would have to give

any money it earned at the higher rate to the IRS.

(i)  on or about May 20, 2004, the day of the bid, during an interstate
telephone call between New Mexico and New York, New York, Marketer B-2 checked with
a co-conspirator at CDR to make sure that a bid at the rate suggested by RUBIN would be a
winning bid and then submitted a bid in accordance with RUBIN’s suggestion.

(iii)  beginning in approximately July 2004, Provider B made monthly
interest payments:to the state housing agency at an artificially suppressed rate until

November 1, 2005.

IN VIOLATION OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE, SECTION 371
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COUNTS FOUR THROUGH SIX — WIRE FRAUD |
- (18 US.C. § 1343, 1346) -

The Grand Jury further charges:
54. RUBIN/CHAMBERS, DUNHILL INSURANCE SERVICES, INC. (“CDR”),
DAVID RURIN, ZEVI WOLMARK, aka STEWART WOLMARK  and EVAN ANDREW
ZAREFSKY are hereby indicted and made defendants on the charges stated below.

55.  Paragraphs 2 through 6 and 8 through 16 of Count One and Paragraphs 26, 27
and 29 of Count Two, and Paragraph 42 of Count Three of this Indictment, are repeated,
realleged, and incorporated in Counts Four and Five, respectively, as if fully set forth in these
Counts.

56.  Financial Institution C was registered with the Federal Reserve as a financial
holding‘company headquartered in New York, New York a:nd was a member of the i?ederal
Reserve System within the meaning of Title 18, United States Code, Section 20. Fiﬁ.ancial
Institution C acted #s a provider of investment agreements and other municipal finance
contracts for issuers and participated in the competitive bidding process to provide those
agreements and contracts.

57. Financial Institution I was registered with the Federal Reserve as a financial
holding company headquartered in Charlotte, North Carolina and was a member of the
Federal Reserve System within the meaning of Title 18, United States Code, Section 20.
Financial Institution D acted as a provider of investroent agreements and other municipal

finance contracts for issuers and participated n the competitive bidding process to provide
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those agreements and contracts.

XV. DESCRIPTION OF THE OFFENSE

58.  On or about the dates indicated below, in the Southern District of New York
and elsewhere, defendants CDR, RUBIN, WOLMARK and ZAREFSKY and other persons
known and unknown, unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly, having devised and intending to
devise a scheme and artifice to defraud municipal issuers and to obtain money and property
from municipal issuers by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and
promises, namely, a scheme to deceive municipal issuers by manipulating the bidding
process for multiple investment agreements and other municipal finance contracts to favor
certain providers, including Provider A, Provider B, Financial Institution A, Financial
Institution C and Financial Institution D, among others, and jfmrtzin:r to deprive municipal
issuers of the intangible right to the honest and faithful services of the CDR defendants and
co-conspirators at CDR through kickbacks and the concealment of material information, for
the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, and attempting to do so, did transmit and
cause to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate
commierce, writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds the foilowing:

COUNT FQOUR: On or about August 12, 2005, via interstate wire transfer from New

York, New York to Beverly Hills, California, defendant CDR received a kickback in the
form of a $4,500 hedge fee in connection with one of three investment agreements that

defendants CDR, RUBIN, WOLMARK, and ZAREFSKY had caused a state water
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_ _devgl_o_p_mgnt_ _at_l__th_or_ity to award to Provider A at rates that had not been determined
competitively.

COUNT FIVE: On or about June 30, 2005, via interstate wire transfer from New

York, New York to Minneapolis, Minnesota, defendants CDR, RUBIN, WOLMARK and
ZAREFSKY caused Provider B to make an interest payment of approximately $264,977.20
1o a state housing corporation, which payment was artificially suppressed because, at the time
of the bid, defendant ZARFFSKY gave Marketer B-2 information about bids from other
providers on the basis of which Marketer B-2 lowered the rates he was otherwise prepared to
submit.

COUNT SIX: On or about May 31, 2006, via interstate wire transfer from New
York, New York to Kansas City, Mié_Sou:i, defendants CDR, RUBIN, WOLMARK and
ZAREFSKY caused Provider A to make an interest payment of approximately $442,341.39 .
to a state program, which interest payment was at an artificially determined rate because, at
the time that Marketer A determined Provider A’s bid, he was asked to pay and agreed to pay

a kickback to CDR that amounted to $475,000.

IN VIOLATION OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE, SECTIONS 1343 AND 1346
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COUNT SEVEN -- FALSE STATEMENTS BY ZAREFSKY
ST gus cos 00y

The Grand Jury further charges:

59.  EVAN ANDREW ZAREFSKY is hereby indicted and made a defendant on the

60.  Paragraphs 5 and 8 through 16 of Count One of this Indictment are repeated,
realleged and incorporated in Count Seven as if fully set forth in this Count.

1.  On numerous occasions between 2000 and 2004, in connection with the
bidding for investment agreements subject to the Treasury regulations, defendant
ZAREFSKY gave information about the prices, price levels or conditions of other providers’
bids to marketcifs for certain providers and those marketers used that information to
deteﬁnine wha;[ beéame the-winning bid. During the same period, ZAREFSKY soliéited
intentiénally Iosiﬁg bids frd;l; marketers- at certe;in providers, including bids from marketers
who told ZAREFSKY that thé providers they represented were not able to enter into the
investment agreements at issue. In addition, during the same period, ZAREFSKY saw and
heard other CDR employees engaging in the same conduct.

62.  On November 15, 2006, defendant ZAREFSKY unlawfully, wilifully, and
knowingly, in a matter within the jurisdiction of the executive branch of the Government of
the United States, falsified, concealed, and covered up by trick, scheme, and device a
material fact, and made materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent statements and

representations, to wit, in connection with an investigation being conducted in the Southern
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District of New York, ZAREFSKY was interviewed by_aggn_ts_of the Fede_rall. Bureau of
Iﬁvestigation and the IRS during a search of the premises. of CDR and falsely stated that the
deals he worked on were done within the regulations, that he did not give “last looks” in
connection with the bidding for investment agreements subject to the regulations, and that he

had no first-hand knowledge regarding “last looks™ or “courtesy” bids.

IN VIOLATION OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE, SECTION 1001(a)(1) and (2)
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COUNT EIGHT ~ INTERFERING WITH ADMINISTRATION
S 'OF INTERNAL REVENUE LAWS -
(26 U.S.C. § 7212(a))

The Grand Jury further charges:

63. DAVID RUBIN, ZEVI WOLMARK, aka STEWART WOLMARK, and
EVAN ANDREW ZAREFSKY are hereby indicted and made defendants on the charges
stated below.

64.  Paragraphs 3 through 5 and 8 through 15 of Count One of this Indictment are
repeated, realleged, and incorporated in Count Eight as if fully set forth in this Count.

65.  From at least as early as February 1999, with respect to defendants RUBIN and
WOLMARK, and from at least as early as June 2000, with respect to defendant ZAREFSKY,
until at least November 2006, within the Southern District of New York and elsewhere,
defendants RUBIN, WOLMARK and ZAREFSKY, and other persons known and unknown, .
did corruptly obstruct and impede, and endeavor to obstruct and impede, the due
administration of the Internal Revenue laws.

66.  Among the means and methods used by defendants RUBIN, WOLMARK and
ZAREFSKY to corruptly obstruct and impede and endeavor to obstruct and impede the due
administration of the Internal Revenue laws were the following:

(a)  Onnumerous occasions, RUBIN, WOLMARK and ZAREFSKY
conducted or authorized CDR employees to conduct bidding for investment agreements

subiect to the Treasury regulations in a manner inconsistent those regulations by coniroliing
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__ _ggd__mgnjpulat_ipg the bidding. s0 as to hg_lp_ parfci_cular.providg_rs. Wi.n”cer’tain contracts, often at
increased prbﬁt levels. On some occasions, RUBIN, WOLMARK and ZAREFSKY selected
and solicited, or authorized or instructed other CDR employees to select and solicit, providers
to bid that would and did agree to submit intentionally losing bids. On other occasions,
RUBiN, WOLMARK and ZAREFKSKY gave or authorized or instructed CDR employees
to give the intended winning provider information about the prices, price levels or conditions
of bids from other providers, in some instances thereby causing the winning provider to
change its bid and increase its profits.

(b) RUBIN, WOLMARK and ZAREFKSY caused CDR to falsely certify
that the bidding.proccss was bona fide and complied with relevant Treasury regulations and
caused CDR to receive and forward bids and certifications from providers containing
corresponding false certifications, thereby cfeating the appearance that there had been open
and honest competition for investment agreements, when, in fact, there had not.

(¢) By secretly controlling and manipulating the bidding for investment
agreements subject to the Treasury regulations, RUBIN, WOLMARK and ZAREFSKY
caused municipalities not to file required reports or to file inaccurate reports with the IRS,
and to fail to give the IRS or the Treasury money to which it was entitled.

(d) With respect to an investment agreement for a state housing agency: -

(i) on or about May 19, 2004, during an interstate telephone call

hetween California and New York, New York, RUBIN suggested to a provider’s
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_representative that he lower the rate he said he was preparing to quote fqr an invesiment
.ag;f.:.en.lent because.the issuei‘ would have to give any money' it earned at the higher rafe to the
IkS.

(i)  on or about May 20, 2004, RUBIN caused CDR to receive a bid
from the provider reflecting a rate in accordancé with his suggestion and a certiﬁdation that,
among other things, falsely stated: “CDR Financial Products, Inc. has not provided us any
information which induced us to bid a vield lower than the yield induced by the Request for
Investment Agreement.”

(iii)  on or about June 1, 2604, RUBIN caused CDR to execute and
send to the issuer’s counsel a broker’s certificate that, among other things, falsely stated:
“The winning bid was the highest yielding bona fide bid (determined net of any bidding .
agent’s fees) which miet the requirements of the bid solicitationf.}”

(e)  With respect to three investment agreements for a state water
development authority:

(i) on or about October 23, 2003, pursuant to standing instructions
from RUBIN and WOLMARK, ZAREFSKY gave a provider’s representative information
about the bid prices submitted by other providers and suggested that the provider lower the

.interest ra;cé on one of the agreements being bid to a specific number, which the provider did.
On the same day, RUBIN, WOLMARK and ZAREFSKY thereby caused CDR to receive a

hid at an artificially suppressed rate for that investment agreement and a certification that,
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]

information that induced us to bid a yield lower than the yield induced by the Request for

Investment Agreement.”

(ii)  on or about October 31, 2003, RUBIN, WOLMARK and
7 AREFSKY caused CDR to execute a false broker’s certificate relating to that same
investment agreement, as specified in Paragraph 39(£)(v) of Count Two of this Indictment.

N VIOLATION OF TITLE 26, UNITED STATES CODE, SECTION 7212(a)
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P LBl Nihs g S WF 4N

__COUNT NINE - FRAUDULENT BANK TRANSACTIONS
5

The Grand Jury further charges: |
67. DAVID RUBIN is hereby indicted and made a defendant on the charge
~ stated below.

68.  Paragraphs 2 through 3 and 8 through 15 of Count One and Paragraphs 26
through 27, and 34 through 38, and 39(g) of Count Two of this Indictment are repeated,
realleged, and incorporated in Count Nine as if fully set forth in this Count.

69.  On or about September 30, 2002, within the Southern District of New York
and elsewhere, defendant RUBIN, with the intent to defraud the United States and the
| Department of the Treasury and the IRS of money and of true and accurate information
_regarding the bidding for an investment agreement with a municipal port facility, as more

fully set forth above, participated, shared in, and received (directly and indirectly) money,
profit, property, and benefits, through a transaction, commission, contract, and any other
act of Financial Institution A, to wit, a $25,000 payment to RUBIN that was disguised as
a hedge fee paid by Financial Institution A to RUBIN’s company CDR, and was

generated from a swap transaction between Finangcial Institution A and Provider A and
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- was related to the m\/esm'efu agrccznem

award to Provider A,

IN VIOLATION OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE, SECTION 1005

Dated: / Z/ ;%0
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